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Geoffrey Sudzina, Procurement Agent 
ph. 410-638-4083 

Geoffrey.Sudzina@hcps.org 

ADDENDUM #1 

RFP #25-GSM-018 
Custodial Services 

TO: All Bidders 
FROM: Geoffrey Sudzina, Procurement Agent 
DATE: January 27, 2025 

This Addendum is issued in response to prospective bidder’s inquiries and to add/clarify verbiage in the Bid. 

1. QUESTION: Do you have an estimate for the square footage of the cleanable space for each school or
estimate overall? If not, will there be an opportunity to determine the square footage?

ANSWER: Refer to Exhibit A for the total square footage of each building. The awarded Bidder(s) will
coordinate staffing needs with the Custodial Coordinator and the Assistant Supervisor of Facilities
Management to supplement custodial staff and service requirements in the four (4) regions of HCPS to
determine square footage of cleanable space.

2. QUESTION: Scope of Work - Could you provide additional information about the size and type of facilities
that require cleaning services (e.g., schools, administrative offices)?

ANSWER: Refer to Question and Answer #1.

3. QUESTION: Would you be willing to share a recent invoice from your current cleaning contractor? Is there a
budget cap you would be willing to share as well?

ANSWER: Refer to Exhibit B: Sample Invoice.

4. QUESTION: Can you please confirm the last contract price?

ANSWER: Refer to Exhibit C: Fees Effective November 1, 2024.

5. QUESTION: Can you please clarify what materials, equipment and tools should be included in the billable
rate? 

ANSWER: Section 2.21 of the Scope of Work and/or Technical Specifications states that HCPS will supply all 
necessary cleaning materials, disposables, and equipment. 

6. QUESTION: Scope of Work - Are there specific expectations or performance standards for the custodial
services?  

ANSWER: Bidders are required to meet all the criteria outlined in Bid #25-GS-018 Custodial Services. 
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7. QUESTION: Is there a fixed schedule for the custodial services, or is the bidder expected to propose a 
schedule? 
 
ANSWER: Scope of Work and/or Technical Specifications 2.2, The Awarded Bidder(s) will coordinate staffing 
needs with the Custodial Coordinator and the Assistant Supervisor of Facilities Management to augment 
custodial staff and service requirements in the four (4) regions of HCPS. 
 

8. QUESTION: Are there specific times or days when services must be performed? 
 
ANSWER: Refer to Exhibit B, HCPS Standard Work Hours on page 41 of the Bid document for details on the 
standard workweek for Harford County Public Schools. The HCPS 2025 – 2026 Calendar has also been 
included as Exhibit D. 

 
9. QUESTION: Will the awarded contractor be required to provide all cleaning supplies and equipment, or will 

any be supplied by the agency? Are there preferred or mandatory brands for cleaning and janitorial 
supplies? 
 
ANSWER: Section 2.21 of the Scope of Work and/or Technical Specifications states that HCPS will supply all necessary 
cleaning materials, disposables, and equipment. 
 

10. QUESTION: Should pricing include all materials, labor, and overhead, or should these be itemized 
separately in the bid?  
 
ANSWER: Billable rates must be submitted on the Bid Form. Section 2.21 of the Scope of Work and/or 
Technical Specifications states that HCPS will supply all necessary cleaning materials, disposables, and 
equipment. 
 

11. QUESTION: What is the expected invoicing process (e.g., monthly, per project)? 
 
ANSWER: Invoices shall be submitted monthly according to the procedures outlined in section eight (8) in 
the Bid document, titled Billing and Payment. 
 

12. QUESTION: Are there specific factors or criteria that will weigh more heavily during the evaluation process 
(e.g., cost, experience, approach)? 
 
ANSWER: Bidders are required to meet all the criteria outlined in Bid #25-GS-018 Custodial Services. 
Section 5.1 states that Harford County Public Schools intends to award to the lowest responsive and 
responsible bidder(s) meeting the specifications based on the rates submitted on the Bid Form and is 
deemed to be in the best interest of HCPS.   
 

13. QUESTION: Could you confirm the insurance requirements, if any, for this contract? 
 
ANSWER:  Refer to Insurance Requirements outlined on pages 18 – 22 of the Bid documents. 
 

14. QUESTION: Are there any specific compliance or certification requirements bidders should be aware of? 
 
ANSWER:  Staffing provided by bidder(s) must meet HCPS employment standards as outlined in Bid #25-GS-
018 Custodial Services. 
 

15. QUESTION: Is there a specific format or template that should be used for submitting the proposal? 
 
ANSWER: Vendors must submit all required documents to bids@hcps.org. Vendors should reference the 
checklist on page 33 of the Bid document to make sure all items are included.  
 

16. QUESTION: Are there any supporting documents or references that you recommend including with the bid? 
 
ANSWER: Refer to Question and Answer #15. 
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17. QUESTION: Will square footage of buildings be provided? 
 
ANSWER: Refer to Question and Answer #1. 
 

18. QUESTION: Are the existing cleaners Union? 
 
ANSWER: There are no union requirements for the contracted services. 
 

19. QUESTION: Will there be assigned walk through dates? 
 
ANSWER: HCPS did not plan to conduct walk-throughs at this time. They are seeking a vendor to help 
supplement their current staff and fill vacancies. Currently, HCPS has not determined which buildings will 
need custodial services. 
 

20. QUESTION: Does our staff need to be part of a union? 
 
ANSWER: Refer to Question and Answer #18. 
 

21. QUESTION: What are the terms on payments and does the billing get broken out per region or all in one 
invoice? 
 
ANSWER: Billing can be provided on one invoice. Payment terms are Net 30. Refer to Question and Answer 
#11 for the invoice process. 
 

22. QUESTION: Do you plan on having a management company oversee who is awarded the contract? 
 
ANSWER: HCPS will not have a management company oversee the vendor. Refer to Section 2.19 of the 
Scope of Work and/or Technical Specifications regarding oversight of staff and operations. 
 

23. QUESTION: Who is the current janitorial contractor for each region? 
 
ANSWER: The current vendor providing services is ABM Industry Group, LLC. 
 

24. QUESTION: Is this contract expected to be for cleaning labor only? 
 
ANSWER: Refer to Section 2.1 of the Scope of Work and/or Technical Specifications. 
 

25. QUESTION: What is the cleaning frequency and specifications for each location? 
 
ANSWER: Refer to Section 2.1 – 2.3.1 of the Scope of Work and/or Technical Specifications. Cleaning 
frequency and specifications are dependent on school location and needs coordinated through Custodial 
Coordinators and the Assistant Supervisor of Facilities Management. 
 

26. QUESTION: If the potential contractor works less than the proposed 41,600 hours, will the school deduct 
money from contractor at the bill rate despite fixed costs included and, if the contractor works over the 
proposed hours , will it be extra billing? 
 
ANSWER: The 41,600 hours is the expected number of hours per year for the services requested. The 
Estimated Annual Quantities listed on the Bid Form is an approximate amount based on historical data. This 
is not a guarantee of work that will be needed; it is strictly for evaluation purposes. The contractor will 
invoice the county monthly based on the number of employee hours worked per the approved contract 
hourly rate. Invoices shall be submitted monthly according to the procedures outlined in section eight (8) in 
the Bid document, titled Billing and Payment. The Awarded Bidder(s) will coordinate staffing needs with the 
Custodial Coordinator and the Assistant Supervisor of Facilities Management.  
 

27. QUESTION: What is the square footage of each school in the district and the address? 
 
ANSWER: Refer to Exhibit A for the total square footage of each building 
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28. QUESTION: Is any outside groundwork required including snow removal?

ANSWER: Outside grounds work may be required. Refer to Section 2.1 of the Scope of Work and/or
Technical Specifications and 2.28 for Custodian I Job Duties.

29. QUESTION: Would you please send 2025/2026 school calendar?

ANSWER: Refer to Exhibit D for the 2025-2026 Harford County Public School Calendar.

30. QUESTION: What is the labor coverage for spring, summer, and winter break?

ANSWER: Services requested will be based for all twelve (12) months. Please reference Exhibit D of the
Addendum for the HCPS School calendar for scheduled closings. Also, please reference Exhibit B in the Bid
document, HCPS Standard Work Hours for the current operating schedule during the summer months. The
Awarded Bidder(s) will coordinate staffing needs with the Custodial Coordinator and the Assistant
Supervisor of Facilities Management.

31. QUESTION: Are the 41,600 the expected hours for the entirety of the contract to be contracted out? Can
you provide the expected hours to be contracted by each region within the contract?

ANSWER: The 41,600 hours is the expected number of hours per year for the services requested. The
Estimated Annual Quantities listed on the Bid Form is an approximate amount based on historical data. This
is not a guarantee of work that will be needed; it is strictly for evaluation purposes. The Awarded Bidder(s)
will coordinate staffing needs with the Custodial Coordinator and the Assistant Supervisor of Facilities
Management to augment custodial staff and service requirements in the four (4) regions of HCPS. Staffing
in each region will be dependent upon the needs of the county.

32. QUESTION: Is the intent of this solicitation to award a single vendor the entire contract?

ANSWER: HCPS intends to award Bid #25-GS-018 Custodial Services to one (1) vendor. HCPS is not
obligated but reserves the right to award to one (1) or more responsive and responsible bidder(s) offering
the lowest pricing and is deemed to be in the best interest of HCPS.

33. QUESTION: Pg 25 item 2.19…is that service Manager dedicated only to working at Harford schools?

ANSWER: The Service Manager provided is not required to work solely with Harford County Public Schools.

34. QUESTION: How many privatized hours are being invoiced currently and for how many employees.

ANSWER: We agreed to 41,600 hours, which is approximately 20-25 employees for the FY24-FY25 school
year with the current vendor. The Awarded Bidder(s) will coordinate staffing needs with the Custodial
Coordinator and the Assistant Supervisor of Facilities Management.

35. QUESTION: What is the current privatized staff breakdown by school? That is, how is the current
outsourced staff allocated?

ANSWER: Staffing locations are based upon needs in the county and may vary. The Awarded Bidder(s) will
coordinate staffing needs with the Custodial Coordinator and the Assistant Supervisor of Facilities
Management.

36. QUESTION: How is notice given to the current vendor as to the number of “new” locations or assignments?

ANSWER: The Awarded Bidder(s) will coordinate staffing needs with the Custodial Coordinator and the
Assistant Supervisor of Facilities Management.

37. QUESTION: Will we be provided a work area in a school/admin to operate for our office needs including
internet, phone, and simple office furniture?
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ANSWER: No office space will be provided. 

38. QUESTION: Please confirm that all supplies need to operate this contract, will be provided by the Harford.

ANSWER: Refer to Section 2.21 of the Scope of Work and/or Technical Specifications.

I hereby acknowledge receipt of Addendum #1 dated January 27, 2025, to Bid #25-GSM-018 – Custodial Services. 

_________________________________ ________________________________ 
Company   Name (Print or Type) 

__________________________________ _________________________________ 
Authorized Signature Date 

Note: Bidder shall sign and submit Addendum with bid submission.  The same person signing Addendum 
shall sign the Bid Form. Failure to submit the Addendum may deem your bid as non-responsive. 









Exhibit C 
Fees Effective November 1, 2024 

Custodian 1 Billable Rate is $24.21 / hour and based on. 

All 4 HCPS Zones

1 Manager

1 Administrative Assistant

Custodian 1 Billable Overtime Rate is $27.79 / hour and based on. 

All 4 HCPS Zones

1 Manager

1 Administrative Assistant






